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By the time the 1521 census was taken, Manastýr had changed in size in order to accommodate a population increase of more than 68%. The census estimated that the city numbered 625 Muslim families, 198 Christian families, 48 Jewish and 19 Gypsy families. Among the wards, there were 22 Muslim wards and 10 Christian; the Sephardic Jews had one quarter (Cemaat–i Yehudiyan) and the Gypsy Romanis (Cemaat-i Çingeyan) another one. [xxxiv] On the basis of the Ottoman census written before1582 the town of Manastýr had 3769 Muslim, 727 Christian, 1425 Jewish and 273 Gypsy males; altogether there were 5594 men. [xxxv]

According to Aron Assa during the 17th and 18th centuries there were around 100 Jewish families in the town. [xxxvi] In Bitola/Manastir, according to the inscription above the main gate, the existing Jewish cemetery at the eastern outskirts of the modern city was established in 1497. The Sephardim lived in the area on the left side of the river Dragor, close to the main market complex and the covered market (Bedestan). Ottoman archival documents and Cadastral registers from the early 17th century refer to the Jewish quarter as: Jehudi Hanede in 1634, Jahudihana in 1638, Büyük Havlu in 1656, the Jewish quarter (Jahudi mahallesi) or River in 1661, Büyük Havli Yahudihana in 1704, the Jewish district Drahor or Yeni avlu in 1863, Pasha avlisi in 1863, Drahor avlisi or Drahor avlu in 1868.[xxxvii]  The Jewish quarter in turn was divided into sub-districts (mahalle) based around  the synagogues of Portugal and Aragon, and between the main mosques of Ishakkiye  and Haydar kadý, near the public baths Debboy and Eski Çifte hamam. After 1700 some of the Jewish population slowly moved to the right bank of the river Dragor. They settled in the area between the Broken Mosque, the Hotel ”Solun”, the modern Post office and the main street, where a quarter known as “La Malle” was shaped. The second Jewish area was “La Tabaana“(Tanners quarter) spreading from the Butter market (Mast-pazar) and the Dr Raiss and Dalmatinska streets, including the sub-district popularly called “Bumba maala”. [xxxviii]

 
 A specific type of Jewish dwelling was built in Bitola/Manastýr. It housed a large number of families and it was built around a courtyard with a high enclosure and gates that were closed overnight. Such housing may have been constructed by the order of the Ottoman governor of the city, as was the case in Sarajevo. [xxxix] A large building complex of this type, known as “The Great Court” or Il Curtijo (the common yard) had an excellent position near the central market, on the edge of the Muslim quarter, and there were others around the main synagogues. This housing was a part of the Jewish Mahallesi, enveloping the sub-districts called Lus Curtijus, La Caleje with Buenos Aires and Bustaniku, which existed until the middle of the19th century. [xl]

 
 The two small Sephardic congregations, the Portuguese community (Portogos Cemaat inden) and the Aragonese community (Aragon Cemaat inden), in 1544 numbered 60 households and 27 tax-paying bachelors. At the beginning they did not work together in harmony and often acted as separate communities. In the Ottoman documents they were mentioned as the “Lower” and “Upper” Jewish congregations, but as time passed by, they were integrated. In 1575 they agreed to join forces financially and administratively, but to continue to maintain two separate houses of worship: the synagogues of Il Kal Aragon and Il Kal de lus Portugezis. In one of the documents preserved from 1580 it was mentioned that because there were insufficient numbers in the Portuguese community, both of the Sephardic congregations decided to use the synagogue “Aragon” as their main place of worship and to use the Portuguese one as a chapel. After numerous disagreements they addressed the Rabbinical Court which brought forward a decision that both of the synagogues should be used "because they have enough people to have two synagogues". [xli] The Jewish market was concentrated around the Synagogue de Lus Portugezus and Bedestan. Before 1634 a great fire burned the market area down with both synagogues and imposed a heavy burden on the communities, which needed to rebuild them. In the meantime both communities rented a place which the congregations used for worship. [xlii] In 1634 a Jew named Isaac, paid three akçe daily rent for a place that was used as a temporary synagogue. There is preserved a Court register (Sicil) issued between 21 and 30th January 1634 (Receb 1043), in which Ahmed-efendi, the Trustee (Mütevelli) of the Vakýf of the deceased Nasuh Kethuda, presented to the court the Jew Isaac. In his presence he made the statement: "Although the daily rent for the synagogue (Kenisenin) in Manastýr is three akçe, the mentioned Jew paid only two akce and one akçe remains indebted."[xliii] In 1657 another Court document revealed that the Jews of Bitola/Manastýr, named Judah, Joseph, Abraham and others, asked for permission to repair their synagogue. To the Court they issued an official statement that, “our temple…which is in the vicinity of the mosque Hamzi Bey, was ruined on the southern side.”[xliv] Then they submitted an application to repair it. After inspection on the spot the Court of Manastýr issued permission to repair the synagogue building. [xlv] There is not much information about what the 17th century Synagogue buildings in Bitola /Manastýr were like. The Sephardic synagogues in Bitola were influenced by the architecture of the Ottoman mosques and Christian churches in the area. The Jewish refugees from Spain and Portugal, founding new places of worship in the urban centers on the Balkans, introduced new elements in their sacral architecture. Having severed their connections with Spanish architectural traditions in their synagogue-building the influences of Byzantine-Ottoman architecture were strongly felt. Since, for example, the Moslems insisted that the roofs of the synagogues should be lower than the lowest mosque in the vicinity; the Jews like the Christians, often lowered the floor level to achieve internal height. Ottoman synagogue buildings were usually rectangular edifices, constructed in a combination of stone, plastered brick and wood. They had wooden ceilings and terracotta tiled roofs. The synagogues (Bet keneset) were located in the heart of the Jewish quarter, surrounded by houses and separated from the streets by high walls. Wherever possible, a synagogue complex had an inner courtyard or vestibule, with a fountain or well, for purposes or ritual washing before the service. The interiors were simply decorated, with geometric pattens or brightly painted walls with elegant ornamentation influenced by the Muslim art styles. Some of the designs were of cabalistic origins, or Psalm 67 was written in the shape of the seven-branched Menorah, as it was in the interior of the “Aragon” synagogue. (Fig.2, Aragon Synagogue) The Prayer hall had the Torah shrine placed in the wall oriented towards Jerusalem and the reading pulpit (bima or almemor) in the centre, surrounded by the men’s seats. There was a women’s section in an adjoining chamber. Multiple arches and ceilings supported by stone columns were common in Bitola’s synagogues, especially the “Aragon.”  The stone and marble pavements were covered with heavy Oriental carpets. The Portuguese synagogue also had interior ornamentation with rich rugs and tapestries, recalling the catholic churches in which the Marranos worshiped.  The building shows how Jewish needs were wedded to local artistic forms and the synagogue plans were probably like others on the Balkans, Anatolia and throughout the Levant. [xlvi] As the Jewish population grew in size and number, between the seventeenth and nineteenth centuries, especially in the period of the Tanzimat Reform movement between 1800 and 1876, new synagogues (Havra) were built in the city area, such as Il Kal di Havra, Il Kal Ozer Dalim, and Il Kal Solomon Levi. [xlvii]

 
Each congregation had a secular and religious administration consisting of the rabbi, the head of the yeshiva, the marbiz torah who performed various religious functions and the Dayyan (rabbinical ecclesiastic judge). Each congregation had institutions such as the synagogue, Talmud torah, and Yeshiva, Bet din, charitable associations, a burial society and so on. If the members of the congregation were few, then they joined together to establish educational institutions such as yeshiva and Talmud torah. [xlviii]

Sephardic culture and intellectual life flourished in Bitola/Manastir as in Islamic Spain. Most of the refugees arriving from Spain brought books, manuscripts and their personal knowledge. In the first quarter of the 16th century the Marrano, Diego Perez, known by the Jewish name Shlomo Molho, former notary to the Portuguese crown, found refuge in Salonica and in Manastir. He was a Cabalist and author of messianic sermons “Sefer ha-Mefoar” published in Salonica in 1529. In his writings he predicted that the year 1540 would bring an end to the Jewish torments and the coming of Messiah. He was caught and burned at the stake in Mantua, while preaching Cabala among the Jewish communities there. [xlix] Some Sephardic Jews spread throughout the Balkans, esta-blishing communities in the northern towns, such as Belgrade in Serbia, Sarajevo in Bosnia, Dubrovnik (Ragusa) and Split (Spalato) on the Dalmatian coast. The neutral politics and good position of Dubrovnik between the Adriatic and the Balkans attracted many Jewish merchants and scholars: Grazia Nasi, Amatus Lusitanus – scholar and physician, the poet Didacus Pyrrhus (Isaiah Coen). The Jewish community of Bitola/ Manastýr maintained strong commercial and cultural connections with Dubrovnik and Venice during the 16th and 17th centuries. [l]

From the south Bitola/Manastýr was strongly influenced by Salonica which had the largest Jewish community in the Ottoman Empire and in 1537 was glorified by the Jewish poet from Ferrara, Samuel Usque, as “Mother of Israel”.  It had a printing press in 1510 run by the brothers Nahmias, public libraries, and several institutions of learning: a Yeshiva, a great Talmud torah, a center for Cabalistic studies and a medical school as well. This center radiated throughout the Balkans spreading its cultural influence to the European Jewish communities. It had a very strong intellectual and religious influence on the Sephardic communities in Manastýr and other urban centers in Macedonia.

Some of the Rabbis were important authorities in religious law; some were revered Talmudists and Cabalists. Their writings often took the form of questions and answers (Sh-elot-ut shubot) dealing with the law in every day life. [li] One of the scholars educated in the traditions of Bitola/Manastýr was Joseph ben David ibn Lev (1505-1580). He was a Rabbi and Rabbinical scholar (Posek) who pronounced decisions on questions of Jewish Law. He was born in Manastir in 1505. As a young man he was appointed judge (dayyan) at the local Jewish ecclesiastical court (bet din), but because of a quarrel at the court he left for Salonica in 1534. He was a president there of the local court, a social activist, and an author of Responsae. He fought against the wealthy tyrants in the Sephardic community, for which hired assassins killed one of his sons. In 1550 he moved to Constantinople where he was appointed teacher in the Yeshiva established by Dona Gracia Nasi. After 1561 he was unable to continue regular teaching in the yeshivah, because of poor health. His writings include a four-volume responsa, Sh-elot ub-shubot ha-Rival, and Hiddushey Dinim (a new interpretations of the laws), which were published in Istanbul in 1556, 1573 and 1597, then in Venice in 1606 and in Amsterdam in 1726. Lev was highly thought of   by contemporary scholars and a new edition of the Responsa in two volumes was published in Jerusalem in 1959/60.[lii] In the middle of the sixteenth century there was a Talmudic school in Bitola/Manastýr, which was under the direction of Rabbi ibn Joseph Lev. Under his guidance Jewish literature developed in the city, which was a Torah center.[liii]

In 1590 the Venetian ambassador, Lorenzo Bernardo, travelled over the ancient Via Egnatia and stayed in Manastýr (he called it Monasterio) for a few days. He described the place as having 1500 houses, of which 200 were Jewish. The local Rabbi, whom Bernardo called “the Consul”, was Samuel Namais, but his real surname was Nahmias and he was brother of the head of Salonica’s Jewish community, Rabbi Abraham Nahmias. [liv] Another contemporary Rabbi and canonist, who lived in Manastýr and Salonica was Shelomo Abraham ha-Cohen, in the Jewish literature known as Moarshakh. He was born in Serres, and he became a Rabbi in Bitola before 1535. Then he was nominated as a rabbi of the Castillian Synagogue in Salonika where he lived until he died in 1602. He was the author of numerous works related to the Jewish law and court decisions from the various places in Macedonia and the Balkans, which give us valuable information about commerce and craftsmanship in the 16th century. One of his most well-known works was “Teshuvot Moarshakh” (the Answers of Moarshakh). The first volume was published in Salonika in 1586, then the second in Venice in 1592, the third part in Salonika in 1594, and the last volume was published in Salonika in 1730.[lv]

 
The Jewish population of Bitola/Manastýr was predominantly urban. The Jews worked as tanners and manufacturers of leather goods, wool, textile dyers, weavers, jewellers, perfumers and spicers, cobblers, and tinsmiths, but they also worked as dealers in old clothes and as porters. They were engaged in local commerce as middlemen for foreign trades, wholesalers, peddlers, and moneychangers (sarraf) and some Jewish families even supported themselves on agriculture. Jews were often the representatives of foreign merchants. Such was the case with a certain Istrade who obtained a Firman from the Sultan in 1635, to be a legal representative of several European companies in Manastýr. Jews also entered a variety of fields in mainly middle-class professions, such as administrators, physicians, bankers, lawyers, interpreters and so forth. [lvi]  The Sephardim from Manastir were associated with their coreligionists in Valona, Dubrovnik, Venice, Genoa, Ancona, Leipzig, Amsterdam, Alexandria, Safed, Damascus, Beirut, Lyon, Marseilles and other commercial centers. Via Durazzo or Dubrovnik, or by sea via Salonica, the 16th century Macedonian Jews transported to Europe various goods from the Middle East and Levant; textiles from Florence were exchanged for carpets from Damascus.[lvii] 
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